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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA
AT HUNTINGTON

OHIO VALLEY ENVIRONMENTAL
COALITION, WEST VIRGINIA
HIGHLANDS CONSERVANCY, and
SIERRA CLUB,
Plaintiffs,
V. CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:12-¢cv-0785

ELK RUN COAL COMPANY, INC.,
and ALEX ENERGY, INC.,

Defendants.

SECOND AMENDED CONSENT DECREE

I. RECITALS

I On March 20, 2012, Plaintiffs Ohio Valley Environmental Coalition, Inc., West
Virginia Highlands Conservancy, Inc., and Sierra Club (collectively “Plaintiffs™) filed a Complaint
for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief and for Civil Penalties (“Complaint™) in this civil action
against Defendants Elk Run Coal Company, Inc., and Alex Energy. Inc. (“Defendants™). ECF No.
1.

2. The Complaint alleged that Defendants are discharging concentrations of pollutants
in violation of West Virginia's narrative water quality standards for biological stream protection
and that these standards are incorporated into West Virginia/National Pollution Discharge
Elimination System (“WV/NPDES”) Permit Nos. WV1003968. WV1013441, WV1015362.
WV1012401. and WV1019601 issued to Defendants by the West Virginia Department of
Environmental Protection (“WVDEP™) pursuant to Section 402 of the federal Clean Water Act

("CWA”) and the West Virginia Water Pollution Control Act. The Complaint further alleged that
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Defendants’ violations of West Virginia’s narrative water quality standards constituted a violation
of the performance standards under the federal Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of
1977 (“SMCRA™) and the terms and conditions of its West Virginia Surface Mining Permits
S5075-86, S5057-92, S3013-91, S3005-98, and S3007-92.

3. On July 13, 2012, the Court bifurcated this case into two phases: (1) jurisdiction
and liability: and (2) injunctive relief. ECF No. 16. Trial was held on the jurisdiction and liability
phase from December 3, 2013 to December 4, 2013.

4. On June 4, 2014, the Court issued a Memorandum Order and Opinion regarding
the jurisdiction and liability phase. ECF No. 110. The Court found that Plaintiffs established, by
a preponderance of the evidence, that Defendants committed at least one violation of their permits
by discharging high levels of ionic pollution. which caused or materially contributed to a
significant adverse impact to the chemical and biological components of the applicable stream’s
aquatic ecosystem, in violation of the narrative water quality standards that are incorporated into
Defendants’ permits. ECF No. 110.

5. On February 2, 2015, the Court entered the Original Consent Decree in this matter,
which resulted in the closure of the case. ECF No. 159

6. On August 3, 2015, Defendants filed a petition for Bankruptcy in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, Richmond Division (the “Bankruptcy
Proceeding”). On or about May 25, 2016, Defendants, their parent company, and other affiliated
companies filed the Second Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization of Debtors and Debtors in
Possession in the Bankruptcy Proceeding (“the Plan™).

y On June 30, 2016, the parties entered a Settlement Agreement, which provided

consideration for the submission of the proposed changes in the First Amended Consent Decree



and for the proposed changes themselves. The Settlement Agreement resolved the Plaintiffs’
objections to the Plan.

8. On or about July 12, 2016, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern
District of Virginia entered an order confirming the Plan.

9. On October 6, 2016, this Court entered the First Amended Consent Decree
negotiated by the parties.

10. Since the entrance of the First Amended Consent Decree the parties have conferred
and negotiated this Second Amended Consent Decree to develop more effective methods of
addressing coal mine pollution in the region. This Second Amended Consent Decree represents
the Parties’ attempt to maximize benefits to streams impacted by ionic pollution associated with
coal mining in central Appalachia. Plaintiffs’ academic experts have been involved at all stages
in developing the instant Amendment and believe that it would provide significant improvements
to water (e.g. reduction in conductivity) and other environmental resources in the Kanawha River
watershed (the same watershed in which the mines that were the object of the action are located).

11.  The Parties recognize, and the Court by entering this Second Amended Consent
Decree finds, that the Second Amended Consent Decree has been negotiated by the Parties in good
faith and will avoid further litigation among the Parties, and that this Second Amended Consent
Decree is fair, reasonable and in the public interest.

NOW, THEREFORE. with the consent of the Parties. IT IS HEREBY
ADJUDGED, ORDERED AND DECREED as follows:

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12.  For purposes of this Second Amended Consent Decree, the Parties agree that

this Court has jurisdiction over the Parties and over the subject matter of this action pursuant



to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question jurisdiction), 33 U.S.C. § 1365 (CWA citizen suit
provision) and 30 U.S.C. § 1270 (SMCRA citizen suit provision).

13. Venue is proper in the Southern District of West Virginia, pursuantto 28 U.S.C.
§ 1391(b) and (c), because it is the judicial district in which Defendants are located, reside
and/or do business, and/or in which the violations alleged in the Complaint occurred. as well as
33 U.S.C. § 1365(c)(1), because the sources of the alleged CWA violations are located in this
Judicial district, and 30 U.S.C. § 1270(c), because the coal mining operations complained of are
located in this judicial district.

14.  For purposes of this Second Amended Consent Decree, or any action to enforce
this Second Amended Consent Decree, Defendants consent to this Court’s jurisdiction over
this Second Amended Consent Decree and consent to venue in this judicial district.

15.  The Defendants further consent to the jurisdiction of this Court to enforce or to
resolve disputes arising under the Settlement Agreement of June 30, 2016, which sets forth
the consideration for modifications to the First Amended Consent Decree from the Original
Consent Decree.

III. APPLICABILITY

16. The provisions of this Second Amended Consent Decree apply to and are binding
upon Plaintiffs and those with authority to act on their behalf, including, but not limited to, their
officers, directors, and staff; upon Defendants and any of their respective successors and/or
assigns; and upon other persons or entities otherwise bound by the law.

IV. DEFINITIONS

17. Terms used in this Second Amended Consent Decree that are defined in the CWA.

SMCRA or in regulations issued pursuant thereto shall have the meanings assigned to them therein,



unless otherwise provided in this Second Amended Consent Decree. Whenever the terms set forth
below are used in this Second Amended Consent Decree, the following definitions shall apply:

a. “Complaint™ shall mean the Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive
Relief filed by Plaintiffs in this action on March 20, 2012;

b. “CWA" shall mean the federal Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251, et segq.:

¢: “Day” shall mean a calendar day unless expressly stated to be a business
day. In computing any period of time under this Second Amended Consent Decree, where the last
day would fall on a Saturday, Sunday or federal holiday, the period shall run until the close of
business of the next business day:

d. “Defendants™ shall mean Elk Run Coal Company, Inc. and Alex Energy.
Inc.,;

& “Effective Date™ shall have the definition provided in Section XIV
(“Effective Date™);

f. “Experimental Practice Projects” means new or innovative reclamation and
or stream mitigation techniques developed or implemented by Appalachian Headwaters, in
consultation with experts, including those in the fields of reclamation of mined areas, forestry,
aquatic habitats, entomology and water chemistry, and stream rehabilitation and enhancement in
the course of carrying out the Reclamation Projects under this Decree.

g. “Enhanced Reclamation Projects” are reclamation projects meant to
enhance or improve existing mined land reclamation and developed or implemented by
Appalachian Headwaters in the course of carrying out the Reclamation Projects under this Decree.

h. “First Amended Consent Decree” shall refer to ECF No. 163 entered in this

action by the Court on October 6, 2016.



i “In-Kind Reclamation Obligation™ refers to the obligation by Defendants to
support Reclamation Projects pursuant to this Decree.

J: “Mammoth Reclamation Area™ is the land which is the subject of the initial
land donation, as defined in Section VI.

k. “Original Consent Decree™ shall refer to ECF No. 159 entered in this action
by the Court on February 2, 2015.

1. “Outfall” or “Outlet” shall mean the following WV/NPDES-permitted
discharge points: WV1003968 Outfalls 001, 002, 003, 004, and 017; WV1013441 Outfalls 001,
002. 003. 004, 005, 006, 007, and 019; WV 1015362 Outfalls 001, 002, and 003; and WV 1012401
Outfalls 004 and 007;

m. “Paragraph™ shall mean a portion of this Second Amended Consent Decree
identified by an Arabic numeral:

n. “Parties™ shall mean Plaintiffs and Defendants;

0. “Permit Application” shall mean an application for permit modification or
bond release on a permitted site chosen for a Reclamation Project, as described in paragraph 31.

p. “Permit Obligations™ shall mean obligations pursuant a WV/NPDES or
SMCRA permit and/or any other obligations imposed by federal. state, or local regulators.

q. “Permits” shall mean WV/NPDES Permit Nos. WV1003968. WV 1013441,
WV1015362, and WV1012401:

T “Piney Creek Donation Area” shall mean the land described in paragraph
25 and shown on Exhibit B to this decree.

8 “Plaintiffs™ shall mean Ohio Valley Environmental Coalition, Inc., West

Virginia Highlands Conservancy, Inc.. and Sierra Club:



t. “Reclamation Projects™ shall mean the projects described in Section V of
this Second Amended Consent Decree.

u. “Section™ shall mean a portion of this Second Amended Consent Decree
identified by a Roman numeral;

V. “Second Amended Consent Decree™ or “Decree” shall mean this document
and any exhibits, attachments, or appendices thereto.

w. “Settlement Agreement of June 30, 2016 shall mean the agreement
executed by the Parties on or about June 30, 2016 and attached as Appendix B to the First Amended
Consent Decree. which sets forth the consideration for the submission of the proposed
modifications and for the modifications themselves.

X. “SMCRA?™ shall mean the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of
1977, 30 U.S.C. §§ 1201, et seq.;

y. “USEPA” shall mean the United States Environmental Protection Agency
and any of its successor departments or agencies;

Z “Valley Fill” shall refer to any area currently or formerly permitted and
constructed, as a “valley fill,” “durable rock fill,” or “refuse disposal area.” The term shall refer
to the face, deck, interior, toe, and any water or pollutant discharge point from such structure.

aa. “WVDEP” shall mean the West Virginia Department of Environmental
Protection; and

bb.  “WV/NPDES permit” shall mean a West Virginia / National Pollutant
Discharge Elimination System permit issued by WVDEP pursuant to Section 402 of the CWA.

V. MINED LAND RECLAMATION PROJECTS

18.  Plaintiffs shall not seek any remedies or penalties under the CWA or

SMCRA for violations of WV/NPDES permit effluent limits or narrative water quality

7



standards associated with discharges of sulfates, TDS. ionic pollution. or elevated
conductivity at the affected Outfalls so long as this Second Amended Consent Decree is
in effect, nor shall Plaintiffs seek any such remedies or penalties after the mined land
reclamation restoration and reclamation projects described in this Section V are
completed.

19.  To improve water quality and offset environmental degradation resulting
from Defendants’ CWA violations. and other impacts from coal-mining, the parties agree
to pursue mined land restoration and reclamation projects in the region. These
Reclamation Projects are further explained below.

20. To achieve the above-stated goals the parties agree to the following:

a. Defendants will make payments to Appalachian Headwaters of
$2.250,000 within 30 days of the entrance of this Second Amended Consent Decree.
Subsequent payment of $2,250.000 shall be made on the first of July 2019, 2020, and
2021. In the event of a merger, acquisition, or other transaction that results in Defendants
having a new ultimate parent company prior to July 1, 2020, then the schedule above shall
be modified. Insuch circumstances, $250,000 shall be paid within 30 days of such merger
or acquisition or other transaction and $750,000 shall be added to the next scheduled
annual payment. To offset the accelerated payment, $1,000.000 shall be deducted from
the July 1, 2021 annual payment. This acceleration of payments shall only occur one
time.

b. Appalachian Headwaters shall use the funds paid under this Paragraph
(the “Funds™) for the following purposes:

I. to design Reclamation Projects, discussed below;



2. to manage, and pay for Reclamation Projects, produce and buy
materials for the projects, general support for the organization. to seek
additional funds for water and land reclamation, to obtain timber or
timber rights in support of Reclamation Projects, and for
environmental education in the Kanawha River watershed; and

3. to pay expert consultants to help design, implement and monitor those
projects.

The Funds shall not be used to support litigation related to coal mining and/or related
activities.

21.  Reclamation Projects. Plaintiffs have designated Appalachian Headwaters
to act on their behalf to design and implement Reclamation Projects, as defined in this
Decree. Appalachian Headwaters and Defendants shall identify locations (a) on permits
and property held by Defendants and their affiliates and/or (b) on permits and property
controlled by a party other than the Defendants or their affiliates if such party has agreed
in writing to allow its locations to be evaluated by the Parties for projects to test new or
innovative reclamation and/or stream mitigation techniques developed by Appalachian
Headwaters (the “Experimental Practice Projects”) and to implement enhanced
reclamation plans designed or approved by Appalachian Headwaters (the “Enhanced
Reclamation Projects” and together with the Experimental Practice Project the
“Reclamation Projects™). The Reclamation Projects shall have a goal of returning streams
and the land to a natural and well-functioning forest ecosystem and reducing conductivity
in nearby streams, while simultaneously also allowing for environmentally sustainable

recreation and commercial activities.
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a. In-Kind Reclamation Obligation. Defendants agree to expend $12.0
million during the 4 years after the Effective Date of this Second Amended Consent
Decree on the Reclamation Projects identified and agreed to by the Parties and
Appalachian Headwaters.

b. Credit against the In-Kind Reclamation Obligation shall include
Defendant’s actual costs (i.e. Defendant shall not make any profit) associated with labor,
materials, equipment, consultants. contractors. or other mutually agreed upon expense(s)
associated with the Reclamation Projects. Any money spent on those items will be
credited in the amount of the cash payment. Services provided by Defendants and their
affiliates. (e.g. machine operation, labor by Alpha employees, or design time by ANR
staff) will be credited against the In-Kind Reclamation Obligation and Defendants shall
provide detailed quarterly documentation of expenditures to Appalachian Headwaters
showing the costs and market value of each activity.

c. Credit against the In-Kind Reclamation Obligation may also include the
value of any land transferred to a non-profit of Appalachian Headwaters’ choosing,
subject to the following conditions:

1. Appalachian Headwaters and Defendants will mutually select an
appraiser to value any such land that is designated for donation and such appraisal shall
establish the fair market value of the land, as if sold on the open market in an arms-length
transaction. Credit will be equal to the appraised value, except for the donation of the
Mammoth Reclamation Area, which will be credited no more than $3.540.000.

2. Defendants shall have the opportunity to propose to donate land in

satisfaction of the In-Kind Reclamation Obligation at any point during the agreement.
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Plaintiffs are under no obligation to accept any such proposed donation. Any such land
donation after the Mammoth Reclamation Area will be valued at market value and will
not be subject to the $3.540.,000 cap set forth above. Appalachian Headwaters may reject
any such proposal.

d. Project Priority. Priority for the Reclamation Projects shall be as follows,
in descending order of priority:

1. Restoration of the Mammoth Reclamation Area as described in
Section VI, below,

2. Poorly reclaimed grass or shrub land where conductivity in nearby
streams receiving runoff/discharge is above 1000 pnS/cm.

3. Riparian areas.

4. Land where reclamation is ongoing, but Plaintiffs believe
conductivity levels can be improved.

e. Project Selection. Plaintiffs, or Appalachian Headwaters on behalf of
the Plaintiffs, and Defendants shall meet at least quarterly to select sites for the
Reclamation Projects, review the status of design or permitting work on the Reclamation
Projects that have not yet commenced. and/or discuss progress on ongoing Reclamation
Projects.

f.  Unmet Reclamation Obligation. If. despite the Parties’ best efforts.
appropriate Reclamation Projects cannot be identified or if services and/or payments for
the In-Kind Reclamation Obligation do not meet the $12 million specified above for any
reason as of January 31, 2022. the balance remaining on the In-Kind Reclamation

Obligation as of that date will be paid to Appalachian Headwaters in four equal
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installments due January 31, 2022, April 30, 2022, July 31, 2022, and September 30, 2022
(the “Reclamation Make Whole Payments™). For the avoidance of doubt, if any

Reclamation Projects remain underway as of January 31, 2022 and the Parties agree (in
writing) to continue with such projects, then the amount projected to be expended shall
be reserved from the Reclamation Make Whole Payments until the projects are
completed, with a final payment of any unexpended funds to Appalachian Headwaters
occurring within 30 days of project completion. The funds provided through any

Reclamation Make Whole Payments will be used and expended as set forth in Paragraph
20.b. above.

22.  Where any compliance obligation under this Section requires Defendants to
obtain a federal, state or local permit or approval. Defendants shall submit timely and
substantially complete applications and take all other actions necessary to obtain all such
permits or approvals. Defendants may seek relief under the provisions of Section X of
this Second Amended Consent Decree (“Force Majeure”) for any delay in the
performance of any such obligation resulting from a failure to obtain, or a delay in
obtaining, any permit or approval required to fulfill such obligation, if Defendants have
submitted timely and substantially complete applications and have taken all other actions
necessary to obtain all such permits or approvals.

23. The Parties agree that they will not file any notice of intent to sue. formal
comment to an administrative agency, appeal of a regulatory action. or lawsuit with a
regulatory body or court regarding any site that is the subject of a Reclamation Project
during or after the completion of said project. If Defendants believe that any Plaintiff has

taken any such action in violation of this paragraph, Defendant shall provide written



notice of the alleged breach to that Plaintiff, through counsel, and allow that Plaintiff 30
days to cure the breach by withdrawing or disavowing the action. Specific performance.
rather than monetary or other damages. shall be the remedy for any breach of this
provision.

VI. INITIAL LAND DONATION

24.  Within 90 days of the Effective Date of this Second Amended Consent Decree.
Defendants shall cause their affiliate Boone East Development Co., LCC to transfer title to the
Mammoth Reclamation Area and the Piney Creek Donation Area, in fee simple to Appalachian
Headwaters or another non-profit organization of its choosing. Transfer shall be in the form of a
general warranty deed.

25. The Mammoth Reclamation Area is located in eastern Kanawha County with
tributaries that flow into the Kanawha River. The property consists of approximately 4,800
contiguous acres and includes a mixture of land that has been previously mined using both surface
and underground mining methods, as well as areas that have not been mined in any widespread or
planned manner. Defendants do not hold the timber rights for approximately 1,200 acres of the
Mammoth Reclamation Area, but will use commercially reasonable efforts to acquire these rights;
if ANR cannot acquire these timber rights within 90 days of this Second Modification being
approved by the Court, Defendants will pay Appalachian Headwaters the appraised value of the
timber rights, up to an agreed-upon cap. Any Valley Fills within the borders of the Mammoth
Reclamation Area are expressly reserved from the Mammoth Reclamation Area. Exhibit A is a
map of the Mammoth Reclamation Area and a legal description of the Mammoth Reclamation
Area will be created by Defendants and submitted to the Plaintiffs for review and comment within

3 business days of this Second Modification being approved by the Court or by September 30,
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2018, whichever first occurs. The Piney Creek Donation Area consists of two parcels of
approximately 550 acres in the aggregate located adjacent to Piney Creek in Raleigh County near
the New River Gorge National River with no SMCRA or WV/NPDES permits of any kind. Exhibit
B is a map of the Piney Creek Donation Area and a legal description of the Piney Creek Donation
Area will be created by Defendants and submitted to Plaintiffs for review and comment within 3
business days of this Second Modification being approved by the Court or by September 30, 2018,
whichever first occurs.

26. Defendants and/or the current operator at any permitted site within the Mammoth
Reclamation area shall retain responsibility for meeting any remaining Permit Obligations for
mining, reclamation, or other activities that are currently being or have been conducted on the land
within the Mammoth Reclamation Area. Plaintiffs will allow Defendants access to the Mammoth
Reclamation Area to meet any such Permit Obligations and will not unreasonably interfere with
Defendants™ activities in this regard. Plaintiffs will also allow Defendants and/or their affiliates
reasonable entry as necessary on the Piney Run property, provided that Defendants and/or their
aftiliates provide reasonable notice.

27.  Defendants shall retain ownership of any Valley Fills or refuse disposal areas and
outfalls within the Mammoth Reclamation Area. Defendants, however, shall generally allow
Appalachian Headwaters, its employees, contractors, consultants or other designees, right of entry
to conduct reclamation and restoration work at these locations. Defendants agree that in the future
these areas within the Mammoth Reclamation Areas shall be used only for activities consistent
with the Mined Land Reclamation Projects described in this Decree. No timbering, mineral
extraction, or industrial activity shall be allowed without the express written consent of

Appalachian Headwaters. The Parties agree that no reclamation or restoration work at these



locations shall occur if Defendants conclude, using their best professional judgment, that such
work could adversely impact the stability of a Valley Fill.

28. Defendants hereby state that they know of no acid mine drainage or hazardous
substances, including but not limited to polychlorinated biphenyl contaminated material-
currently existing on the Mammoth Reclamation Area.

29. Prior to the transfer of the title for the Mammoth Reclamation Area and the
Piney Creek Donation Area, Defendants shall terminate the existing grazing lease on the
property and any other lease or agreement that allows for a post-mining land use
inconsistent with the use of the property as a Reclamation Project described in Section V
of this Decree.

Additionally, prior to transfer of title Appalachian Headwaters shall have the
opportunity to complete a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment on the land to be
transferred and to refuse title if the Assessment reveals significant environmental liability
associated with the site. In such case, the land credit of up to $3.54 million dollars shall,
upon agreement of the Parties, be applied to another parcel or parcels transferred to a non-
profit of Appalachian Headwaters choosing pursuant to Paragraph 21 herein.

VII. NOTIFICATION AND REVIEW OF PERMIT MODIFICATIONS AND
BOND RELEASE

30. Defendants agree that any permit modification and/or request for bond release
on any permitted site chosen for a Reclamation Project must be consistent with the goals
of the Reclamation Project, namely to reforest the area and to reduce conductivity in
nearby streams; provided that, if any permitted area is within 1 year of achieving final
bond and permit release, the Defendants and their affiliates may proceed to achieve such

final bond and permit release. In such an instance. the Defendants and their affiliates
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shall then re-permit any land work under non-coal mining permitting requirements of the
WVDEP.

31. Defendants agree to provide Plaintiffs with a copy of any application for
permit modification or bond release (“Permit Application™) on any permitted site chosen
for a Reclamation Project. Plaintiffs shall have twenty-one (21) days after receipt to
review the application to confirm that it does not materially conflict with the goals of this
Second Amended Consent Decree. If Plaintiffs contend that there is such conflict they
shall provide written notice to Defendants of a) the respect to which the Permit
Application conflicts with the goals of this Decree; and b) proposed alternative language
or action to resolve such a conflict. Defendants agree that in the event of such notice,
they will refrain from submitting the Permit Application to the relevant legal authority
until the conflict is resolved. If the Parties cannot resolve the conflict within thirty (30)
days of notice by Plaintiffs, any party may submit the matter to this Court or to an agreed
upon Mediator for resolution. Plaintiffs agree that their consent to any Permit Application
may not be unreasonably withheld.

32. Defendants agree that they will not make or agree to any material alteration of
a Permit Application without providing notice to Plaintiffs. In such event Plaintiffs shall
have fourteen (14) days to review the proposed alteration to the Permit Application. If
Plaintiffs contend that the alteration to the Permit Application will cause a material
conflict with the goals of this Second Amended Consent Decree they shall provide
specific written notice to Defendants of a) the respect to which the alteration conflicts

with the goals of this Decree; and b) the proposed alternative language or action to resolve
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such conflict. If the parties cannot resolve the conflict within ten (10) days, any party
may submit the matter to this Court or to an agreed upon Mediator for resolution.
VIII. EFFECT OF BANKRUPTCY

33. The undersigned agree that obligations within the Second Amended Consent Decree
are not dischargeable through bankruptcy, and Defendants agree not to seek such a discharge and
will join Plaintiffs in efforts to avoid any such a discharge.
IX. PARENT COMPANY GUARANTY

34. The ultimate parent company of the Defendants, in this case ANR, Inc. shall provide
a parent company Guaranty. in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, for the full amount of the
Funds and for any payments or value of the In-Kind Reclamation Obligation that remain
outstanding at any given time. This Guaranty shall be effective on the Effective Date of this
Second Amended Consent Decree, and shall be submitted within three days of the entrance of this
Second Amended Consent Decree. The Parties shall adjust the written amount set forth in the
parent company guaranty at least annually to reflect payments of Funds and the value of the In-
Kind Reclamation; provided that, the parent company guaranty shall never exceed the amount of
Funds that remain to be paid plus the value of the In-Kind Reclamation Obligations that remain to
be performed. In the event of a merger. stock sale, or other transaction whereby a new entity shall
become the Defendants’ ultimate parent company, Defendants agree that they shall cause such
new ultimate parent company to provide a parent company guaranty in the same form as that
provided by ANR within thirty days of the closing of such merger. stock sale or other transaction.
If Defendants fail to secure the required parent company guaranty from the new owner, all

obligations then remaining shall be accelerated such that any remaining cash payment and the



remaining value of the In-Kind Reclamation Obligation shall be paid in full within forty-five days

of the closing of the merger.

X. FORCE MAJEURE

35. “Force Majeure,” for purposes of this Second Amended Consent Decree, is defined as
any event arising from causes beyond the reasonable control of Defendants, of any entity
controlled by Defendants, or of Defendants’ contractors, which delays or prevents the performance
of any obligation under this Second Amended Consent Decree despite Defendants’ best efforts to
fulfill the obligation. The requirement that Defendants exercise “best efforts to fulfill the
obligation™ includes using best efforts to anticipate any potential Force Majeure event and best
efforts to address the effects of any such event (a) as it is occurring and (b) after it has occurred to
prevent or minimize any resulting delay to the greatest extent possible. “Force Majeure™ does not
include Defendants’ financial inability to perform any obligation under this Second Amended
Consent Decree.

36. If any event occurs or has occurred that may delay the performance of any
obligation under this Second Amended Consent Decree, whether or not caused by a Force Majeure
event, Defendants shall provide notice orally or by electronic or facsimile transmission to Plaintiffs
within five business (5) days of when Defendants first knew that the event might cause a delay.
Within 14 days thereafter, Defendants shall provide in writing to Plaintiffs an explanation of the
reasons for the delay; the anticipated duration of the delay: and actions taken or to be taken to
prevent or minimize the delay.

37. If Plaintiffs agree that the delay or anticipated delay is attributable to a Force
Majeure event, the time for performance of the obligations under this Second Amended Consent
Decree that are affected by the Force Majeure event will be extended by Plaintiffs for such time

as is necessary to complete those obligations. An extension of the time for performance of the
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obligations affected by the Force Majeure event shall not. of itself, extend the time for performance
of any other obligation. Plaintiffs will notify Defendants in writing within 5 business days of the
length of the extension, if any, for performance of the obligations affected by the Force Majeure
event.

38. If Plaintiffs do not agree that the delay or anticipated delay has been or will be
caused by a Force Majeure event, Plaintiffs will notify Defendants in writing of its decision with
five (5) days of its receipt of the Force Majeure claim by Defendants. Any dispute between the
Parties over a Force Majeure claim may be resolved by the Court.

XI. EFFECT OF SETTLEMENT/RESERVATION OF RIGHTS

39. This Second Amended Consent Decree, along with the Original Consent Decree,
and First Amended Consent Decree resolve the civil claims of Plaintiffs for the violations alleged
in the Complaint in this action, filed on March 20, 2012, and those that occur through the date of
termination of this Second Amended Consent Decree. Plaintiffs shall comply with the provisions
of Paragraph 18 herein.

40. The terms of this Second Amended Consent Decree supersede the terms of the
Original Consent Decree and the First Amended Consent Decree, except that the obligations of
Plaintiffs, Defendants’, and Defendants™ parent company set forth in Paragraphs 4 and 6 through
11, inclusive, of the Settlement Agreement of June 30, 2016 (“Outstanding Obligations™) shall
remain in effect. The Parties agree that: any compliance dates for the design, construction and
implementation of treatment technology at outfalls on Defendants permits; and any requirement
to meet permit limits are not Outstanding Obligations under the June 30, 2016 Settlement
Agreement and are not enforceable under that Agreement or this Second Amended Consent

Decree.
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41. The Parties agree that this Second Amended Consent Decree relieves Defendants from
obligations to design. and implement treatment technology at the outfalls listed herein, that were
incurred as a result of the Original Consent Decree and the First Amended Consent Decree.

42.  The Parties agree to the dismissal of Plaintiffs’ claims regarding Outfall 001 under
WV/NPDES Permit WV1019601 with prejudice as to violations through the Effective Date of the
Original Consent Decree because the outfall has yet to be built and, thus, cannot be in violation.

43.  This agreement does not represent an admission of liability by Defendants. Further,
Defendants do not concede that the legal theory advanced by Plaintiffs in this case is correct and
applicable at other sites. Defendants and/or their affiliate companies reserve all rights to oppose
Plaintiffs” legal theory in other cases.

44.  This Second Amended Consent Decree shall not be construed to create rights in, or

grant any cause of action to, any third party not party to this Decree.
XII. COSTS AND FEES

45.  Asrequired pursuant to Paragraphs 42 and 43 of the Original Consent Decree. and
in accordance with the fee shifting provisions of the CWA and SMCRA, Defendants timely paid
reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees, including expert witness fees and costs incurred by Plaintiffs
in conjunction with this civil action through the Effective Date of the Original Consent Decree in
the amount of $493,967.58.

46.  The sum delivered under Paragraphs 42 and 43 of the Original Consent Decree
constituted a complete settlement of Plaintiffs’ claims for costs and fees incurred up to the
Effective Date of the Original Consent Decree, and thereafter for responding to possible comments
on the Original Consent Decree by the Department of Justice.

47.  Defendants shall pay Plaintiffs’ reasonable fees and costs for their work related to

proceedings to interpret or enforce the terms of the Second Amended Consent Decree or the
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Settlement Agreement of June 30, 2016. Defendants shall also pay Plaintiffs’ reasonable fees and
costs for their work in negotiating and drafting the Second Amended Consent Decree. The fees
and costs described in this paragraph may not exceed $40.000.

XIII. NOTICES
48.  Unless otherwise specified herein, whenever notifications, submissions, reports or
communications are required by this Second Amended Consent Decree, they shall be made in
writing and addressed as follows:
To Plaintiffs:
Mike Becher
Appalachian Mountain Advocates
P.O. 11571
Charleston, WV 25339
To Defendants:
Legal Department
Alpha Natural Resources Services, LLC
300 Running Right Way
Julian, WV 25529
And
Executive Vice President & General Counsel
Alpha Natural Resources
One Alpha Place
P.O. Box 16429
Bristol, VA 24209
49.  Any Party may. by written notice to the other Parties, change its designated notice
recipient or notice address provided above.
50.  Notices submitted pursuant to this Section shall be deemed submitted upon mailing,

unless otherwise provided in this Second Amended Consent Decree or by mutual agreement of the

Parties in writing.
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XIV. EFFECTIVE DATE

51.  The Effective Date of this Second Amended Consent Decree shall be the date upon
which this Second Amended Consent Decree is entered by the Court or a motion to enter this
Second Amended Consent Decree is granted, whichever occurs first, as recorded on the Court’s
docket.

XV. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

52.  The Court shall retain jurisdiction over this case until termination of this Second
Amended Consent Decree, for the purpose of resolving disputes arising under this Decree or
entering orders modifying this Decree, pursuant to Section XVI (“Modification™) or effectuating
or enforcing compliance with the terms of this Decree.

53. The Parties agree and consent to this Court’s jurisdiction to enforce or to resolve
disputes arising under the Settlement Agreement of June 30, 2016 as to the Parties to this action.
The obligations of Plaintiffs, Defendants, and Defendants’ parent company set forth in Paragraphs
4 and 6 through 11, inclusive, of the Settlement Agreement of June 30, 2016 are hereby
incorporated into this Second Amended Consent Decree by reference, as if fully set forth herein.

54.  Except as explicitly provided herein, Plaintiffs and Defendants reserve all legal and
equitable rights and defenses available to them to enforce or defend the provisions of this Second
Amended Consent Decree.

XVI. MODIFICATION

55. The terms of this Second Amended Consent Decree, including the attached
appendices, may be modified only by a subsequent written agreement signed by all Parties. Where
the modification constitutes a material change to this Decree, it shall be effective only upon
approval by the Court.

XVII. TERMINATION
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56.  The Second Amended Consent Decree shall terminate when: all the Funds have
been paid: the In-Kind Reclamation Obligation has been satisfied; and all Reclamation Projects

have been are completed.

XVIII. SIGNATORIES/SERVICE

57.  Each undersigned representative of Plaintiffs and Defendants certifies that he or
she is fully authorized to enter into the terms and conditions of this Second Amended Consent
Decree and to execute and legally bind the Party he or she represents to this document.

58.  This Second Amended Consent Decree may be signed in counterparts, and its
validity shall not be challenged on that basis.

XIX. INTEGRATION

59.  This Second Amended Consent Decree constitutes the final, complete, and
exclusive agreement and understanding among the Parties with respect to the settlement embodied
in the Second Amended Consent Decree and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings,
whether oral or written, concerning the settlement embodied herein. Other than deliverables that
are subsequently submitted and approved pursuant to this Second Amended Consent Decree, no
other document, nor any representation, inducement, agreement, understanding or promise,
constitutes any part of this Second Amended Consent Decree or the settlement it represents, nor
shall it be used in construing the terms of this Second Amended Consent Decree.

XX. FINAL JUDGMENT

60.  Upon approval and entry of this Second Amended Consent Decree by the Court,
this Second Amended Consent Decree shall constitute a final judgment of the Court as to Plaintiffs
and Defendants. The Court finds that there is no just reason for delay and therefore enters this

judgment as a final judgment under Fed. R. Civ. P. 54 and 58.
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ENTER: _((/(o /\&

/Y

ROBERTC. CHAMBERS
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

For the Plaintiffs Ohio Valley Environmental Coalition,

Conservancy, Inc., and Sierra Club

L U

JOSEPYM. LOVETT (WV Bar No. 6926)

J. MICHAEL BECHER (WV Bar No. 10588)
Appalachian Mountain Advocates

P.O. Box 507

Lewisburg, WV 24901

304-793-9007

Inc., West Virginia Highlands

Dated: 8/17/18

For the Defendants Elk Run Coal Company. Inc. and Alex Energy, Inc.

sl X . P/u/@/ne éé/w% by el

M. SHANE HARVEY, WVBN%(»MW//GJMJn.m
JACKSON KELLY PLLC

1600 Laidley Tower

Post Office Box 553

Charleston, West Virginia 25322

304-340-1006

Dated: 8/”//!



